
 Tillamook County Transportation District 
Board of Directors 

Regular Monthly Meeting 

Thursday, November 17, 2022 at 6:00PM 
Transportation Building 

3600 Third Street, Tillamook, Oregon 



1



2



3



4



5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



Coordinating Committee Hybrid Meeting 
November 14, 2022 

10:00 am—12:00 pm 

Benton Area Transit District Office 

Join Zoom Meeting: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87552290259 

Call In: 1 253 215 8782 
Meeting ID: 875 5229 0259 

Agenda 

10:00—
10:15a 1. Introductions.  Welcome to guests. Cynda Bruce 

10:15—
10:35a 

2. Consent Calendar (Action Item)
October Meeting Minutes (Attached) 
Financial Report 
Ridership Tracking 

Cynda Bruce/All 

10:35—
10:50a 

3. NWOTA Standing Items
Marketing Update 
Website Update 

Sarah Lu Heath 

10:50- 
11:05a 

4. Bus Stop Project Update Jeff Hazen 

11:05- 
11:20a 5. Token Transit & Multi-Day/Family Passes All 

11:20-
11:30p 6. Other Business All 

11:30a – 
12:00p 7. Member Updates All 

Attachments: 

September Meeting Minutes 
Ridership/Passenger Mile Tracking 

NWOTA meetings are open to the public and accommodations will be provided to persons with 
disabilities.  If a sign language interpreter is needed, please call Sarah Lu Heath at 971.328.2877 at 
least 48 hours prior to the meeting. 

44

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87552290259


NWOTA Meeting Minutes 
October 14, 2022 

In attendance: Cynda Bruce, John Dreeszen, Jeff Hazen, Sarah Lu Heath, Arla Miller, Mike Reed. 

Consent Calendar Reviewed: Minutes were reviewed. An update on the state of affairs at TCTD was 
provided by Mike Reed: an NDAO staffer has come on board to serve in the interim while TCTD works 
through the hiring process to hire a finance director. Thus far in the fiscal year, there have been very few 
transactions. Anticipated invoices and their timing were discussed.  

Ridership and Emissions reporting were reviewed. Discussion of overall ridership trends highlighted the 
importance of the Amtrak interline agreement.  

Motion to approve was made by Jeff Hazen and seconded by John Dreeszen; the motion passed 
unanimously.  

Marketing Updates: Sarah Lu provided an update on the RFP process and it was decided to enter into 
negotiation with Trillium for marketing and advertising services.   

Bus Stop Updates: The LOI for STIF Discretionary funds was submitted.  

Contract Updates:  The webservices contract with Trillium   

Other Business: Due to the Veterans Day holiday, the next NWOTA meeting will be held on Monday, 
November 14th at the Benton Area Transit District office in Corvallis.  

Member Updates: Discussion about best practices for hiring drivers. Update from TCTD: Search for new 
Director has not succeeded and Mike Reed will continue in the interim role. They are also looking at 
implementing token transit.  

Meeting was adjourned at 11:45am. 

 

 

 

 

45



Tillamook County Transportation District 
Board of Directors Special Meeting  
Thursday, October 20, 2022 – 6:00PM  
Transportation Building 
3600 Third Street, Tillamook, OR  
Meeting Minutes 
 

 
1. Call to Order: Board Chair Mary Johnson called the meeting to order at 6:00 pm.   

 
2. Pledge of Allegiance 

 
3. Roll Call: 

Present 
TCTD Board of Directors  
Mary Johnson, Board Chair (Zoom) 
Judy Riggs, Vice Chair  
Jackie Edwards, Director (Zoom) 
Linda Adler, Secretary (Zoom) 
Marty Holm, Director  
Gary Hanenkrat, Treasurer  

 
TCTD Staff 
Natalie Zuercher, Admin Assistant/ Board Clerk 
Mike Reed, Operations Superintendent (ABSENT) 
Cathy Bond, NWR Brokerage Manager 

 
Guests  
Susan Shepard, Temp Financial Supervisor  
Matthew Kahl, Legal Team (Jordan Ramis)  
Will Cheppell, Headlight Herald  
Eric Morris, Guest  
Kathy Klezeck, NWOTD 
Jay Mayernik, Locks Transportation  

 
4. Announcements and Changes to Agenda:  

a. AA Zuercher announced addition of action item #18: Motion to Correct 
Resolution #22-24 Authorizing Interim General Manager to Execute ODOT 
Section 5311(f) Grant Agreement No. 35117 for Intercity Services  

b. AA Zuercher announced the removal of TAC Committee from Discussion 
Items. 

c. BM Bond announced the removal of TAC Committee from discussion items. 
 
5. Public & Guest Comments:  

a. None. 
 

46



6. Executive Session: ORS 192.660 (2)(A) Employment of Public Officers, Employees, 
and Agents 

a. The TCTD Board of Directors entered executive session at   6:04 PM and came 
out of executive session at 6:24 PM. 

 
Motion by Dir. Edwards to Allow IGM Mike Reed to make hiring decisions for the district. 
Motion Seconded by Dir. Adler. 
 

Motion Passed 
By Directors Hanenkrat, Adler, Riggs, 

Holm, Edwards, and Board Chair Johnson. 
 
REPORTS 
7. Financial Report: BM Bond Reviewed the TCTD year-to-date financial report 

through July 2022.  
a. Not ready to produce financials, still need to do some double checking. We are 

holding off one more month. Hope to be caught up at November meeting. 
Meeting with Dir. Hanenkrat next week to help us work through some things to 
make  

b. Reconciled August bank statements and working on September bank 
reconcile. Making great progress but want to make sure its accurate.  

 
8. Service Measure Performance Report: BM Bond gave the service performance 

report through July 2022. 
a. Systemwide ridership up 18.8%. 
b. DAR up 16.3%. 
c. DFR 10.3%. 
d. Intercity up 22.4%YTD. 
e. All ridership up except for Amtrak. 
f. Graphs from IGM Reed show ridership. Will explain at November board 

meeting.  
g. Can’t complete all financials so not all report is here.  

 
9. Northwest Oregon Transit Alliance: BM Bond shared updates from the last 

partner meeting.  
a. Did have meeting last Friday. 
b. Working towards STIF funding. 
c. Reviewed all financials and agree that they look good.  

 
10. Planning & Development:  BM Bond shared the following updates: 

a. Still on task on track with implementing service expansion in Jan. 3rd route to 
Portland Align route 3 and 4. Return 5 trips to Oceanside to Netarts. 

b. Route 2B will be renamed. The Port run is doing very well so we are changing 
the number because of this to Route 6.  

47



c. Trask River RV Park was a lot of ridership with DAR because of no bus service 
but now we have elevated a lot of these trips. Helping Hands and Jail are 
contributions to this as well. 

 
11. Grant Funding: BM Bond gave the following updates: 

a. TAC meeting with recommendations to TAC about STIF discretionary grant. 
State has $13.8 million in grant but not get this confused with formula. State 
requires LOI’s with these discretionary, TCTD has sent maximum of 4 letters.  

b. NWOTA bus stop improvement is one of them, one at Walmart in Clatsop 
County, Alder Street in Tillamook County (Pacific City), Newport is also building 
one. These cost a lot of money so this fund will help complete this project. 

c. Intercity Services with other LOI. Vehicle replacement for 60/70x Route, 
discretionary grant is a great opportunity for this. This will free up formula. 

d. Dir. Holm asked about money with old discretionary funds included with budget. 
i. BM Bond replied this is new money. We didn’t budget for discretionary, 

they just announced it.  
ii. Dir. Holm asked about modifications to LOI.  
iii. BM Bond replied we still must have core of existence, but we can work 

around amounts. We are hoping to free up formula money. The busses 
are still going to be purchased regardless, we must replace fleet. 

e. Last LOI for software updates at TCTD. This is regarding Transit Ace being 
super fragile. We are working quickly to replace this. We asked for $250,000 
but we don’t know cost yet. We have investigated finance software 
replacement, but we are hearing from others our software is good. We are more 
interested in ridership software. Beginning of November, we will complete grant 
app with hard numbers.  

i. BM Bond added that we make come under budget with this. Took it to 
TAC, they liked LOI, next step is to get a grant application started. If TAC 
agrees, we will bring it to board for approval. 

ii. BM Bond said that you can’t buy vehicles with these grants, these are 
only for expansion.  
 

Grant Funding: BM Bond gave the following updates: 
f. Discussed the continuity with planning and grant funding. To redirect mobility 

to maintenance to purchase the lift and replace the floor. Discussed this with 
Arla, we are allowed to amend agreement.  

 
12. Facility/Property Management: BM Bond gave the following updates: 

a. Still underway, bid for transit center and main office renovations. Will be 
brought to you in December. It will take approx. 6 months. All things approved 
by board will finish in late spring. 

 
13. NW Ride Brokerage: BM Bond gave the following updates: 

a. October 31st NWR will take over DAR. In anticipation off January service 
expansion. 4:30 am – 9:30 pm someone will be here supporting operations. 

48



We have done this before; we took calls pre-covid for a year. Its beneficial to 
community because of amount of people available to answer calls.  

 
14. Miscellaneous:  

a. None  
 

 
CONSENT CALENDAR 
15. Motion to Approve the Minutes of September 22, 2022, Regular Board Meeting  
 
 

Motion by Dir. Riggs to approve Consent Calendar. Motion Seconded by Dir. Holm. 
 

Motion Passed 
By Directors Hanenkrat, Adler, Riggs, 

Holm, Edwards, and Board Chair Johnson. 
 

ACTION ITEMS 
16.  Resolution #22-25 In the Matter of Authorizing the Interim General Manager to 

Execute an ODOT Section 5310 Grant Agreement No. 35193 
 
 

Motion by Dir. Holm to Motion to Approve Resolution #22-25 In the Matter of 
Authorizing the Interim General Manager to Execute an ODTO Section 5310 Grant 
Agreement No. 35193. Motion Seconded by Dir. Hanenkrat. 

 
Motion Passed 

By Directors Hanenkrat, Riggs, 
Holm, Edwards, Adler, and Board Chair Johnson. 

 
17. Motion to Correct Resolution #22-24 Authorizing Interim General Manager to 

Execute ODOT Section 5311(f) Grant Agreement No. 35117 for Intercity Services  
 
 

 Motion by Dir. Riggs to Motion to Approve Motion to Correct Resolution #22-24 
Authorizing Interim General Manager to Execute ODOT Section 5311(f) Grant 
Agreement No. 35117 for Intercity Services with correct amount. Motion Seconded 
by Dir. Holm. 
 
 

Motion Passed 
By Directors Hanenkrat, Riggs, 

Holm, Edwards, Adler, and Board Chair Johnson. 
 

 
 

49



DISCUSSION ITEMS 

18. Staff Comments/Concerns:

Operations Superintendent/Interim General Manager Reed: None.

NW Rides Brokerage Manager Bond: Thank you for patience with financials, don’t
want to put anything out that I can’t stand behind. Susan and I are going to truck
through it.

Administrative Assistant Zuercher: Downtown Trick or Trolley is running on October
31st for Halloween with stops at YMCA, PUD, and Pioneer Museum.

19. Board of Directors Comments/Concerns:

Board Chair Johnson: Thank you Cathy for filling in for Mike on short notice. Thank
you, Natalie, and Thank you Susan. Thank you to fellow board members for being
awesome.

Dir. Riggs: Thank you I agree with everyone.

Dir. Adler: The staff, I really appreciate you all pulling together, happy to support you
all. Thanks, Cathy for rising to the occasion.

Dir. Edwards: Thanks to the staff, this has been difficult, you have done so well and
work so hard. Doug would be so proud of you all. Glad to be a part of an organization
where you all care.

Dir. Hanenkrat: You guys have had a couple rough months; you are doing a great job.

Dir. Holm: Stand with everyone else. Thanks for keeping it rolling.

Adjournment: Board Chair Johnson adjourned the meeting at 6:55 

pm. These minutes approved this 17th day of November 2022. 

ATTEST: 

     Mary Johnson, Board Chair      Mike Reed, Interim General Manager 

50



BEFORE THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE 

TILLAMOOK COUNTY TRANSPORTATION DISTRICT 
 

Authorizing the Interim General Manager ) 
To Amend the Agreement With )    RESOLUTION NO. 22-26 
Ride Connection to Extend the ) 
Term of the Agreement ) 
 
  WHEREAS, Ride Connection is a non-profit organization dedicated to 
providing transportation options to those in need; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in September 2009, the Tillamook County Transportation 
District entered into an agreement whereby Ride Connection will pay the District to 
provide passenger service in Banks and North Plains; and   
 
 WHEREAS, the District has provided service to numerous individuals in 
Banks and North Plains and the program has been successful to date; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the District wishes to extend the term of the agreement until 

June 30, 2024. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Tillamook County 
Transportation District Board of Directors: 
 

that the Tillamook County Transportation District Board of Directors hereby 
authorizes the General Manager to execute the amendment to the agreement with Ride 
Connection on behalf of the District extending the term of the agreement to June 30, 2024. 

   
 INTRODUCED AND ADOPTED this 17th day of November 2022. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 

By: _____________________________ By: _____________________________ 
Mary Johnson, Board Chair                      Mike Reed, Interim General Manager 

51



52



53



     Tillamook County Transportation District 
     Board of Directors Application 

Name of Applicant: 

Street Address: 

Mailing Address: 

Home Phone:    Cell Phone: 

Email Address: 

Present Employment (If not presently employed, enter “N/A” or “Retired”) 

Previous Employment 

Prior Governmental Experience (elected or appointed) 

Prior Board Service Experience, other than governmental 

Other Community Affiliations 

Are you knowledgeable about the public transportation needs of resident or employees 
located within or traveling to and from Tillamook County?  Yes  No 

If yes, please describe: 

Why do you wish to serve on the TCTD Board of Directors? 

54


























































	NovemberBoardPacket
	November Board Packet Cover
	AugustFinancialsOctoberBoardPacket
	OctoberVisaSheet
	OctFinance1_Redacted
	Octfinance2
	OctFinance3
	OctFinance4
	PROctober(1)
	PROctoberCOLOR
	PROctoberColorGraph
	2022.11.14 NWOTA Meeting Agenda
	2022.10.14 NWOTA Minutes
	10.20.22 Minutes Draft
	2. Pledge of Allegiance
	3. Roll Call:
	Present
	TCTD Board of Directors
	TCTD Staff
	Guests
	Susan Shepard, Temp Financial Supervisor
	Matthew Kahl, Legal Team (Jordan Ramis)
	Will Cheppell, Headlight Herald
	Eric Morris, Guest
	Kathy Klezeck, NWOTD
	Jay Mayernik, Locks Transportation
	4. Announcements and Changes to Agenda:
	a. AA Zuercher announced addition of action item #18: Motion to Correct Resolution #22-24 Authorizing Interim General Manager to Execute ODOT Section 5311(f) Grant Agreement No. 35117 for Intercity Services
	b. AA Zuercher announced the removal of TAC Committee from Discussion Items.
	c. BM Bond announced the removal of TAC Committee from discussion items.
	5. Public & Guest Comments:
	a. None.
	6. Executive Session: ORS 192.660 (2)(A) Employment of Public Officers, Employees, and Agents
	a. The TCTD Board of Directors entered executive session at   6:04 PM and came out of executive session at 6:24 PM.
	Motion by Dir. Edwards to Allow IGM Mike Reed to make hiring decisions for the district. Motion Seconded by Dir. Adler.
	Motion Passed
	By Directors Hanenkrat, Adler, Riggs,
	Holm, Edwards, and Board Chair Johnson.
	REPORTS
	7. Financial Report: BM Bond Reviewed the TCTD year-to-date financial report through July 2022.
	a. Not ready to produce financials, still need to do some double checking. We are holding off one more month. Hope to be caught up at November meeting. Meeting with Dir. Hanenkrat next week to help us work through some things to make
	b. Reconciled August bank statements and working on September bank reconcile. Making great progress but want to make sure its accurate.
	8. Service Measure Performance Report: BM Bond gave the service performance report through July 2022.
	a. Systemwide ridership up 18.8%.
	b. DAR up 16.3%.
	c. DFR 10.3%.
	d. Intercity up 22.4%YTD.
	e. All ridership up except for Amtrak.
	f. Graphs from IGM Reed show ridership. Will explain at November board meeting.
	g. Can’t complete all financials so not all report is here.
	9. Northwest Oregon Transit Alliance: BM Bond shared updates from the last partner meeting.
	a. Did have meeting last Friday.
	b. Working towards STIF funding.
	c. Reviewed all financials and agree that they look good.
	10. Planning & Development:  BM Bond shared the following updates:
	a. Still on task on track with implementing service expansion in Jan. 3rd route to Portland Align route 3 and 4. Return 5 trips to Oceanside to Netarts.
	b. Route 2B will be renamed. The Port run is doing very well so we are changing the number because of this to Route 6.
	c. Trask River RV Park was a lot of ridership with DAR because of no bus service but now we have elevated a lot of these trips. Helping Hands and Jail are contributions to this as well.
	11. Grant Funding: BM Bond gave the following updates:
	a. TAC meeting with recommendations to TAC about STIF discretionary grant. State has $13.8 million in grant but not get this confused with formula. State requires LOI’s with these discretionary, TCTD has sent maximum of 4 letters.
	b. NWOTA bus stop improvement is one of them, one at Walmart in Clatsop County, Alder Street in Tillamook County (Pacific City), Newport is also building one. These cost a lot of money so this fund will help complete this project.
	c. Intercity Services with other LOI. Vehicle replacement for 60/70x Route, discretionary grant is a great opportunity for this. This will free up formula.
	d. Dir. Holm asked about money with old discretionary funds included with budget.
	i. BM Bond replied this is new money. We didn’t budget for discretionary, they just announced it.
	ii. Dir. Holm asked about modifications to LOI.
	iii. BM Bond replied we still must have core of existence, but we can work around amounts. We are hoping to free up formula money. The busses are still going to be purchased regardless, we must replace fleet.
	e. Last LOI for software updates at TCTD. This is regarding Transit Ace being super fragile. We are working quickly to replace this. We asked for $250,000 but we don’t know cost yet. We have investigated finance software replacement, but we are hearin...
	i. BM Bond added that we make come under budget with this. Took it to TAC, they liked LOI, next step is to get a grant application started. If TAC agrees, we will bring it to board for approval.
	ii. BM Bond said that you can’t buy vehicles with these grants, these are only for expansion.
	Grant Funding: BM Bond gave the following updates:
	f. Discussed the continuity with planning and grant funding. To redirect mobility to maintenance to purchase the lift and replace the floor. Discussed this with Arla, we are allowed to amend agreement.
	12. Facility/Property Management: BM Bond gave the following updates:
	a. Still underway, bid for transit center and main office renovations. Will be brought to you in December. It will take approx. 6 months. All things approved by board will finish in late spring.
	13. NW Ride Brokerage: BM Bond gave the following updates:
	a. October 31st NWR will take over DAR. In anticipation off January service expansion. 4:30 am – 9:30 pm someone will be here supporting operations. We have done this before; we took calls pre-covid for a year. Its beneficial to community because of a...
	14. Miscellaneous:
	a. None
	CONSENT CALENDAR
	Motion by Dir. Riggs to approve Consent Calendar. Motion Seconded by Dir. Holm.
	Motion Passed
	By Directors Hanenkrat, Adler, Riggs,
	Holm, Edwards, and Board Chair Johnson.
	ACTION ITEMS
	Motion Passed
	By Directors Hanenkrat, Riggs,
	Holm, Edwards, Adler, and Board Chair Johnson.
	Motion Passed
	By Directors Hanenkrat, Riggs,
	Holm, Edwards, Adler, and Board Chair Johnson.
	DISCUSSION ITEMS
	18. Staff Comments/Concerns:
	Operations Superintendent/Interim General Manager Reed: None.
	NW Rides Brokerage Manager Bond: Thank you for patience with financials, don’t want to put anything out that I can’t stand behind. Susan and I are going to truck through it.
	Administrative Assistant Zuercher: Downtown Trick or Trolley is running on October 31st for Halloween with stops at YMCA, PUD, and Pioneer Museum.
	19. Board of Directors Comments/Concerns:
	Board Chair Johnson: Thank you Cathy for filling in for Mike on short notice. Thank you, Natalie, and Thank you Susan. Thank you to fellow board members for being awesome.
	Dir. Riggs: Thank you I agree with everyone.
	Dir. Adler: The staff, I really appreciate you all pulling together, happy to support you all. Thanks, Cathy for rising to the occasion.
	Dir. Edwards: Thanks to the staff, this has been difficult, you have done so well and work so hard. Doug would be so proud of you all. Glad to be a part of an organization where you all care.
	Dir. Hanenkrat: You guys have had a couple rough months; you are doing a great job.
	Dir. Holm: Stand with everyone else. Thanks for keeping it rolling.
	Adjournment: Board Chair Johnson adjourned the meeting at 6:55 pm.
	These minutes approved this 20th day of October 2022.
	ATTEST:

	15-17 Ride Connection Contract Extension
	RideConnection2022Contract
	TCTD-BOD-Application-FindlingREDACTED

	PSR-Aug-Sep
	SeptemberFinancials
	UpdatedAugustFinancials
	UpdatedOctoberMM

	Name: Nathan "Finn" Findling
	Street, City, State, Zip: 
	Home Phone: 
	Cell Phone: 
	Email: 
	Present Employment: Marketer / Owner - Finn Squared, LLC
	Previous Employment: Internet Marketing Specialist - Golden Technologies (2010)Social Media Manager & SEO Specialists - Livemercial (2006, 2008-2009)
	Prior Governmental Experience: Planning Commission. City of Garibaldi, OR (Current Chair)Member, PAC Advisory Committee. ODOT / US 101 downtown Garibaldi project
	Prior Board Experience: 
	Other Affiliations: I admin the local Pokemon GO online group. It sounds crazy, but there are hundreds of players, ranging from local leaders to those on services. Tourists find us, too.
	Yes: Choice1
	No: Off
	Transportation Knowledge: Sparsely populated, spaced over 1,300 sq. mi. Second homes, lack of heavy rail, and telecommute culture has increased the income gap, making public transportation vital 
	Wish to Serve: 1) My baby twins are Tillamook County "blue bloods." Living in Garibaldi, their friends from school will be spaced from Bay City to Wheeler. 2) I have friends who are on special services whose mental health is affected the Wave's schedule. 3) See what more we can provide to the smallest cities and unicorporated areas


